THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2019-001063
Trial Court Case No. 2016-CP-40-06960

Dennis J. Powell, Jr.

Respondent,

v.

Mark Keel, Chief, State Law
Enforcement Division, and the
State of South Carolina

Appellants.

RECEIVED
DEC 09 2019
SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

The Honorable Alan Wilson
Attorney General for the State of South Carolina

Harley L. Kirkland, Esquire
Assistant Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
S.C. Bar Number 100382

Adam L. Whitsett, Esquire
General Counsel

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in disregarding South Carolina's clear and unambiguous statutes and binding jurisprudence in finding that the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) is acting illegally by publishing the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry Act (SORA) registry on the internet?
- II. Did the trial court err in disregarding South Carolina's clear and unambiguous statutes and binding jurisprudence in finding that Respondent is entitled to equitable relief in this matter?
- III. Did the trial court err in disregarding South Carolina's clear and unambiguous statutes and binding jurisprudence in finding that SORA violates Respondent's right to equal protection under the law?
- IV. Did the trial court err in disregarding South Carolina's clear and unambiguous statutes and binding jurisprudence in finding that SORA violates Respondent's right to due process?
- V. Did the trial court err in disregarding South Carolina's clear and unambiguous statutes and binding jurisprudence in finding that SORA is punitive?
- VI. Did the trial court err in disregarding South Carolina's binding jurisprudence in finding that SORA constitutes an unconstitutional *ex post facto* law?
- VII. Did the trial court err in disregarding and mischaracterizing the evidence in this matter?
- VIII. Did the trial court err in failing to find for the Appellants as a matter of law?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The South Carolina SORA was initiated in 1994 and officially codified into the South Carolina Code of Laws in 1996. *See* 1994 Act No. 497, Part II, § 112A; 1996 Act 444 § 16. In 1998, South Carolina Legislature specifically authorized SLED to publish SORA registry information via the “use of computerized or electronic transmission of data or other electronic or similar means” and in 1999 SLED began publishing SORA information on the internet. 1998 Act No. 384 § 1; Temple Affidavit. (R. p. 245).

Thereafter, Respondent was indicted for Criminal Solicitation of a Minor on December 1, 2008. This indictment reads:

That Dennis Powell, Jr., on or about November 12, 2007 to February 15, 2008, did willfully and knowingly commit the crime of criminal solicitation of a minor. To wit: Dennis Powell, Jr. a person eighteen years of age or older, did knowingly through the Internet contact and communicate with a person located within the County of Lexington, State of South Carolina, whom he reasonably believed to be a twelve year-old girl, for the purpose of or with the intent of persuading, inducing, enticing, or coercing this person to engage or participate in a sexual activity as defined in Section 16-15-375(5). This is in direct violation of Section 16-15-342 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976), as amended.

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in such case made and provided.

See Indictment (R. pp. 182-83). In April of 2009, the Respondent pled guilty to this indictment admitting his conduct under oath. *See* Sentencing Sheet. (R. p. 184).¹

Moreover, the specific factual basis for this plea is set forth in the plea transcript. *See* Plea Transcript. (R. pp. 185-92). This transcript indicates that the Respondent, who was 22 years old, admitted to have numerous sexually explicit conversations with an

¹ It is noteworthy that the age listed in the indictment is “twelve year-old girl”; however, the trial court erroneously found that Respondent’s SORA listing “falsely” includes the age of 12 for the victim in deciding this matter. *See* Order p. 4. (R. p. 6).

individual that the Respondent admitted he believed to be a 12 or 13-year-old girl in an online Yahoo Chatroom. The clear and unequivocal intent of these communications was for the Respondent to persuade, induce, entice, and coerce this 12 or 13-year-old girl to engage and participate in sexual activities as defined by S.C. Code § 16-15-375. *See Solicitation Chats. (R. pp. 193-242).* The Respondent admitted that, among other things, he wanted to “teach” this 12 or 13-year-old girl various sex acts and the Respondent also sent pictures of his penis to this individual he believed to be a 12 or 13-year-old girl. Notably, the Respondent admitted in these conversations, “I would be in trouble, not you”, yet he did it anyway. *See Solicitation Chats. (R. pp. 193-242).*

Ultimately, after having laid his intentional sexual “groundwork”, the Respondent set up an in-person meeting with this 12 or 13-year-old girl at a skating rink in Lexington County for the express purpose of engaging in sexual activity with her. After setting up this meeting, the Respondent drove from Forest Acres to Lexington to engage in sexual activity with this 12 or 13-year-old girl. However, the Respondent did not stop at the skating rink, but instead drove by the meeting location prior to being arrested by law enforcement. Fortunately for the citizens of South Carolina, this “12 or 13-year-old girl” was actually a law enforcement officer acting in an undercover capacity who apprehended the Respondent before he could victimize a 12 or 13-year-old minor child as he admittedly intended. *See Plea Transcript; Solicitation Chats. (R. pp. 185-92, 193-242).*

Furthermore, subsequent to his conviction for Criminal Solicitation of a Minor, the Respondent was required to register on South Carolina’s SORA registry and did in fact so register with the Richland County Sheriff’s Department on or about February 11, 2010 and has continued to register since that time. *See RCSO Affidavit. (R. p. 243).* However, it is

noteworthy that the Respondent is not now and has never been subject to residency restrictions, work restrictions of any kind, or GPS monitoring based upon his lawful status as a sex offender in South Carolina. *See Id.*; Temple Affidavit. (R. pp. 243-44, 246). Further, the Respondent is not subject to any other restrictions, including, but not limited to, internet usage, community involvement, or any prohibitions related to where he may go or with whom he may lawfully interact. *See* RCSO Affidavit; Temple Affidavit. (R. pp. 243-44, 246). Rather, the Respondent is subject to the same regulatory and administrative requirements and is treated like all other similarly situated registrants in South Carolina. *See* Temple Affidavit. (R. p. 246).

In addition, Respondent did not appeal his 2009 conviction or sentence and Respondent did not apply for post-conviction relief. Respondent has not sought a pardon for his conviction. And, Respondent has not filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus or a motion for new trial. (Tr. p. 7)(R. p. 380). Accordingly, Respondent's conviction has not been reversed, overturned or vacated on appeal and does not meet any of the statutory criteria for removal in South Carolina law.

Respondent filed this present action on or about November 21, 2016. Appellants' filed an initial summary judgment motion, which was denied on April 10, 2018. Subsequently, Respondent filed a summary judgment motion and a supporting memorandum. Appellants' filed a second summary judgment motion and a response in opposition to Respondent's motion. A hearing on these motions occurred on March 26, 2019. The trial court issued its order granting Respondent summary judgment on May 7, 2019. Appellants' filed a timely motion for reconsideration, which was denied June 12, 2019. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, appellate courts apply the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCP.” Turner v. Milliman, 392 S.C. 116, 121-22, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011).

“Questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court.” Clardy v. Bodolosky, 383 S.C. 418, 425, 679 S.E.2d 527, 530 (Ct. App. 2009).

When an appeal involves stipulated or undisputed facts, an appellate court is free to review whether the trial court properly applied the law to those facts. WDW Properties v. City of Sumter, 342 S.C. 6, 10, 535 S.E.2d 631, 632 (2000).

ARGUMENT

The trial court committed reversible error in disregarding clear and unambiguous South Carolina law and binding South Carolina jurisprudence in this matter. As such, based on the following, the trial court’s decision must be reversed in its entirety.

HISTORY OF SEX OFFENDER REGISTRATION IN SOUTH CAROLINA

A review of the history of sex offender registration is helpful to the analysis in this matter. As noted by the South Carolina Supreme Court,

The movement to enact sex offender registration statutes arose after Megan Kanka, a seven-year old child, was raped and murdered in New Jersey by a convicted sex offender who had moved in across the street from her family. The killer enticed the girl to come over to his house in order to see his new puppy. The New Jersey legislature responded to this highly publicized event by declaring a legislative emergency to immediately debate and enact a sexual crimes bill.

On October 31, 1994, Governor Whitman signed the bill, which became known as Megan’s Law. N.J. Stat. Ann. 2C:7-1 *et seq.* The law requires sexual criminals to register with local law enforcement.

The United States Congress also reacted to the national outrage over sexual crimes by passing the Jacob Wetterling Crimes Against Children and

Sexually Violent Predator Act (“Jacob Wetterling Act”), which President Clinton signed on September 13, 1994. Jacob Wetterling Crimes Against Children and Sexually Violent Offender Registration Program, 42 U.S.C.A. § 14071 (West 1994). The Jacob Wetterling Act gives states incentives to enact laws that protect the public from sexual criminals by conditioning federal funding under the Public Health and Welfare Code to state enactment of a sex crimes law. 42 U.S.C.A. § 14071(g)(1) and (g)(2). The Jacob Wetterling Act also creates a national sexual offender database, in which the states are required to participate. 42 U.S.C.A. § 14071(b)(2)(B).

Hendrix v. Taylor, 353 S.C. 542, 547–48, 579 S.E.2d 320, 322–23 (2003). Thereafter, in 1996, Congress passed its own “Megan’s Law” mandating the public disclosure of information about certain sex offenders and empowering the individual states to determine the appropriate confines of such disclosure. *See* “Megan’s Law”, 42 U.S.C. 14071(d).

In 2006, Congress passed the “Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act of 2006”, which included the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (SORNA). 42 U.S.C. § 16901 *et seq.* This federal law created a new baseline of sex offender registration and notification standards and directed the Department of Justice to establish the Dru Sjodin National Sex Offender Public Website. *Id.* As such, the U.S. Congress has mandated that states publish sex offender registry information online, and the United States Supreme Court has recently upheld this mandate. *See Gundy v. United States*, 139 S. Ct. 2116, 204 L. Ed. 2d 522 (2019).

HISTORY OF PUBLIC REGISTRATION IN SOUTH CAROLINA

The South Carolina Sex Offender Registry (hereinafter “Registry”) came into existence upon the passage of 1994 Act No. 487, Part II, § 112A following the federal trend set forth above. The Registry was created to be operated “under the direction of the chief of the State Law Enforcement Division (SLED)”. *Id.* In that regard, the South Carolina Legislature empowered SLED to “develop and operate” the Registry and to collect,

maintain, and make Registry information available. *Id.* Notably, the initial iteration of the Registry was **not** open to public inspection. *Id.* (“Information collected for the offender registry shall not be open to inspection by the public. The information shall be made available only to law enforcement, investigative agencies, and those authorized by the court.”) However, the very first legislative change to the Registry, which came upon the passage of 1996 Act 444, changed this and specifically made Registry information open and available to the public. Specifically, S.C. Code § 23-3-490 was amended to read:

Section 23-3-490. (A) Information collected for the offender registry is **open to public inspection**, upon request to the county sheriff. A sheriff must release information regarding a specific person who is required to register under this article to a member of the public if the request is made in writing, stating the name of the person requesting the information, and the name or address of the person about whom the information is sought. The information must be disclosed only to the person making the request. The sheriff must provide the person making the request with the full name of the offender, any aliases, the date of birth, a current home address, the offense for which the offender was required to register pursuant to Section 23-3-430, and the date, city, and state of conviction. A photocopy of a current photograph must also be provided. The provisions of this article do not authorize SLED to release information to the public unless a request is made in writing stating the name of the person making the request and the name of the person about whom information is sought. SLED is only authorized to release to the public the name of the county in which the offender is registered. Otherwise, SLED is not authorized to release any information contained in the registry to anyone other than law enforcement agencies, investigative agencies, and those agencies authorized by the court.

1996 South Carolina Laws Act 444 (S.B. 1286) (emphasis added).

Thereafter, in 1998, the South Carolina Legislature again amended the statute to expand the information that SLED was authorized to disseminate. Specifically, S.C. Code § 23-3-490 was expanded to provide that:

(B) A person may request on a form prescribed by SLED a list of registered sex offenders residing in a city, county, or zip code zone or a list of all registered sex offenders within the State from SLED. A person may request information regarding a specific person who is required to register under

this article from SLED if the person requesting the information provides the name or address of the person about whom the information is sought. **SLED shall provide the person making the request with the full names of the requested registered sex offenders, any aliases, any other identifying physical characteristics, each offender's date of birth, the home address on file, the offense for which the offender was required to register pursuant to Section 23-3-430, and the date, city, and state of conviction....**

1998 South Carolina Laws Act 384 (H.B. 4805) (emphasis added).

In addition, in 1998, as the internet was increasing in nationwide popularity and use, the South Carolina Legislature specifically authorized SLED to publish Registry information on the internet. Specifically, S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-490(E) was added, which states, **“For purposes of this section, use of computerized or electronic transmission of data or other electronic or similar means is permitted.”** *Id.* (emphasis added). As such, the South Carolina Legislature specifically authorized SLED to publish Registry information online through electronic means in 1998. To that end, SLED first published Registry information on the internet on or about **November 22, 1999** and has published said Registry information on the internet continuously since. *See Temple Affidavit.* (R. p. 245).

Thereafter, the South Carolina Legislature acknowledged that the media could access and publish Registry information in newspapers. *See* 1999 South Carolina Laws Act 110 (H.B. 3075). Moreover, the current version of S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-490(C) states “[n]othing in subsection (A) prohibits a sheriff from disseminating information contained in subsection (A) regarding persons who are required to register under this article if the sheriff or another law enforcement officer has reason to believe the release of this information will deter criminal activity or enhance public safety.”

Additionally, S.C. Code § 23-3-535(F)(1)(b) specifically requires that “[a]t the beginning of each school year, each school district must provide:... the hyperlink to the sex offender registry web site on the school district’s web site...”. Clearly, this Legislative mandate for a **hyperlink** to SORA Registry website indicates a clear Legislative intent that SORA Registry information be accessible on the internet.

Furthermore, as recognized by the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals in the *United States v. Under Seal* case, the federal Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (SORNA) also

requires that a sex offender registry include the name, address, physical description, criminal history and status of parole, probation, or supervised release, current photograph, and other identifying information. 42 U.S.C. § 16914. SORNA further requires that “each jurisdiction shall make available on the Internet, in a manner that is readily accessible to all jurisdictions and to the public, all information about each sex offender in the registry.” 42 U.S.C. § 16918(a).

United States v. Under Seal, 709 F.3d 257, 262 (4th Cir. 2013). As such, in order to comply with SORNA, South Carolina law enforcement entities are required to make certain information “available on the Internet” and available for public access.

Finally, throughout the history of the Registry, SLED has been empowered to determine the form of public requests for Registry information and the appropriate form for law enforcement to provide responsive information. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 23-3-410, 490. To that end, SLED has determined that online publication through internet websites available on SLED’s website or the individual Sheriff’s Department websites is the appropriate form of both requests for and dissemination of Registry information, and has utilized this medium for dissemination since November of 1999. *See* Temple Affidavit. (R. p. 245). Further, SLED in exercising its statutory discretion has determined that the

current level of security, which notifies requesters of the criminal penalties for improper use of Registry information and which seeks to prohibit non-humans from accessing the Registry, is sufficient. *See Temple Affidavit* (R. p. 247) *see also* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 23-3-400 *et. seq.* This level of security is more robust than that necessary to access SLED criminal records (SLED CATCH) or the general public index. *See Temple Affidavit.* (R. p. 247). Accordingly, the trial court's order finding that the internet access and the SORA website somehow does not constitute a "form prescribed by SLED" is both factual and legal error that should be reversed. *See Order* p. 4. (R. p. 6).

I. The trial court erred in disregarding South Carolina's clear and unambiguous statutes and binding jurisprudence in finding that the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) is acting illegally by publishing the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry Act (SORA) registry on the internet.

The trial court's decision to disregard the clear and unambiguous language of SORA and the abundance of binding precedent in this matter is legally incorrect and should be reversed in its entirety. This decision rests largely on the fundamentally flawed premise that the South Carolina Legislature did not intend for SORA Registry information to be published on the internet or accessible online. Further, the trial court disregarded the aforementioned history of statutory public sex offender registration in South Carolina.

In South Carolina, courts have consistently held that "[a]ll rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that the legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute."). *Kiriakides v. United Artists Commc'ns, Inc.*, 312 S.C. 271, 275, 440 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1994). Further, the South Carolina Supreme Court recently reaffirmed that "we read the statute as a whole and in a manner consonant and in harmony with its purpose. We therefore should not concentrate on isolated phrases within

the statute.” Senate by & through Leatherman v. McMaster, 425 S.C. 315, 322, 821 S.E.2d 908, 912 (2018). The decision in this case is based on a flawed and incorrect isolation of phrases in SORA that, if true, would negate the intent of SORA and would lead to a manifestly absurd result.

The intent of SORA is clear and unequivocal. SORA was created “to promote the state’s fundamental right to provide for the public health, welfare, and safety of its citizens.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-400. To that end, it is inarguable that protecting the public, which is achieved by providing the public access to individual sex offender’s information, is a stated intent of SORA. *Id.* The Legislature also specifically acknowledged that the “sex offender registry will provide law enforcement with the tools needed in investigating criminal offenses” finding that “law enforcement’s efforts to protect communities, conduct investigations, and apprehend offenders who commit sex offenses are impaired by the lack of information about these convicted offenders who live within the law enforcement agency’s jurisdiction.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-400.

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