THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Appellate Case No. 2019-001063
Trial Court Case No. 2016-CP-40-06960

RECEIVED

OCT 07 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Dennis J. Powell, Jr. Respondent,

v.

Mark Keel, Chief, State Law
Enforcement Division of the
State of South Carolina,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Jon E. Ozmint (#7107)
The Ozmint Firm
P.O. Box 681
Columbia, S.C. 29260

Elise F. Crosby (#7077)
Crosby Law Firm, LLC
405 Dozier Street
Georgetown, S.C. 29440

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

V. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT THE SORA IS SO PUNITIVE IN EFFECT AS TO NEGATE THE STATE’S INTENT THAT IT BE NON-PUNITIVE.

The SORA as implemented today—mandating lifelong registration, and adding national, and international Registered Sex Offender status along with free-access internet publication for life to anyone curious, coupled with the restrictions attached to being a registered sex offender—render the 2019-2020 SORA as punitive.

More than fifteen years ago, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that “sex offender registration . . . is non-punitive. . .” *In re Ronnie A.*, 355 S.C. 407, 409, 585 S.E.2d 311 (2003); *In re Justin B.*, 419 S.C. at 581, 799 S.E. 2d at 678. In the later *Justin B.* case, on the question of electronic monitoring, the Court found “the requirement that adults and juveniles who commit criminal sexual conduct must register as a sex offender and wear an electronic monitor¹³ is not a punitive measure. . .” *In re Interest of Justin B.*, 799 S.E.2d 675, 419 S.C. 575 (S.C., 2017)¹⁴ However, much has changed in sixteen years. The U.S. Supreme Court mandates a two-part threshold analysis for Eighth Amendment challenges to statutes alleged to be punitive: “If the intention of the legislature was to impose punishment, that ends the inquiry. If . . . the intention was to enact a regulatory scheme that is civil and nonpunitive, we must further examine whether the statutory scheme is so punitive either in purpose or effect as to negate the State's intention to deem it civil.” *Smith v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 84, 92 (2003) (citing *Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346, 361, (1997)).

The SORA self-identifies as “not intended to violate the guaranteed constitutional rights of those who have violated our nation’s laws,” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-400 and has been interpreted

¹³ Not applicable to Respondent

¹⁴ Other states have concluded sex offender registries and publication methods are punitive. *See, e.g.*, AK: *Doe v. State*, 189 P.23d 999 (2008); MI: *Does v. Snyder*, 834 F.3d 696 (6th Cir. 2016); NH: *Doe v. State*, 167 N.H. 382 (2015); OK: *Starkey v. Oklahoma Dept. Of Corrections*, 305 P.3d 1004 (Okla. 2013).

as such. Therefore, the trial court properly applied the second part of the *Smith v. Doe* test: Is the SORA so punitive in effect as to negate the state’s intent that it be non-punitive? (*See* Order dated May 7, 2019, p. 24). Useful guideposts to answering this question are found in *Doe*, 583 U.S. at 86–87 (*citing Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martin*, 372 U.S. 144, 168–69 (1963)): (1) does the sanction involve an affirmative disability or restraint; (2) has it historically been regarded as a punishment; (3) does it come into play only on a finding of scienter; (4) does its operation promote the traditional aims of punishment—retribution and deterrence; (5) is the behavior to which it applies already a crime; (6) is there an alternative purpose to which it may rationally be connected; and (7) does it appear excessive in relation to the alternative purpose assigned.

The SORA contains the following statement of intent:

“The intent of this article is to promote the state’s fundamental right to provide for the public health, welfare and safety of its citizens. Notwithstanding this legitimate state purpose, these provisions are not intended to violate the guaranteed constitutional rights of those who have violated our nations laws. The sex offender registry will provide law enforcement with the tools needed in investigating criminal offenses. Statistics show that sex offenders often pose a high risk of re-offending. Additionally, law enforcement’s efforts to protect communities, conduct investigations, and apprehend offenders who commit sex offenses are impaired by the lack of information about these convicted offenders who live within the law enforcement agency’s jurisdiction.”

S.C. Code Ann. §23-3-400.

Twenty-plus years later, the execution of the SORA has gone far afield of that constitutional intent. This statement of legislative purpose never references any need for publication to the general public, nor does it refer to statistical information that public identification of sex offenders and their locations lower the rate of recidivism or increases public safety. Appellants in this case filed affidavits from representatives of SLED, local law enforcement, and the SC Victim’s Assistance Network, none of which include any supporting data linking the SORA of today to the intent of the legislation. (R. __pp. __). Internet publication of

registry information, when registration is for life, is in no way necessary or even related to the stated legislative intent. Even if SLED identified and kept a record of those requesting access and even if SLED limited that information to the statutorily proscribed information, changes to technology impacting the internet—such as automated data mining and collection—since the passage of the SORA would likely have thwarted such efforts. By publicly branding all sex offenders for life, especially minor offenders like Respondent, the State has gone beyond the express legislative intent of the statute. The distinctly non-proscribed and different methods used to publicize registry information have converted what might have been a non-punitive tool for law enforcement into a punitive scheme and the trial court properly held that this distinctly different publication method potentially *increases* the risk to public safety by leading a lifetime of discrimination against registrants.¹⁵

Accordingly, Respondent does not argue against precedent in asserting that the entirely different and distinctly punitive and risk-increasing publication methods for these low-level criminal convictions is unconstitutional where his argument includes that SLED has not followed the plain language of statute, and that the extra-statutory and risk-increasing publication methods used by the Appellants and others to publish information about him is unconstitutionally punitive to him. This has not been addressed by our appellate courts. Thus, the trial court properly found the publication methods utilized by SLED to be punitive, in violation of the SORA, in violation of Respondent's Eighth Amendment rights, and not rationally tied to the SORA's express purpose.

The supporting facts are not in dispute. Under the *Smith v. Doe* factors:

¹⁵ As noted above, during this litigation, SLED even felt compelled to modify the sex offender registry website to warn against the public's use of information from the website to harm, injure, or otherwise discriminate against registrants.

(1) There is affirmative restraint. In addition to the information the government requires of many personal details of Respondent's life, he is restricted as to where he lives, with whom he volunteers or works¹⁶, and even some of his behavior at home. Appellants offer testimony Respondent "has never been subject to residency or work restrictions based upon his lawful status as a sex offender." (Aff. of J Stewart R. p. __) Respondent may never have run afoul of any of these restrictions himself, but they are most certainly there. For example, sex offenders are prohibited from living in campus housing,¹⁷ Sex offenders may not work as taxi or charter drivers, foster care providers, truck driver trainers, childcare workers, or group home employees.¹⁸ In Respondent's real life, he lost at least one job with a country club caterer because the club could not allow him to work on the premises. (11-21-17 Aff. of Respondent R. P. _) He has lost adult relationships directly because of sex offender status, including that a divorced mother with custody cannot marry or cohabit with Respondent or risk losing custody of her children.¹⁹ Also, South Carolina sends its information to the Department of Justice. The International Megan's Law of February 2016, required a "unique identifier" placed on the passports of Americans convicted of sex offenses with children and requires offenders to notify law enforcement twenty-one days before traveling abroad, and allowing for the revocation of passports previously issued to these individuals that do not contain the identifier.²⁰ In addition to this unavoidable identifier by the US government, registered Sex Offenders holding the marked passport could be denied entrance to foreign countries.²¹ As a

¹⁶ E.g., Respondent struggles that "Uncle Dennis" cannot volunteer with his nephew's sports teams (11-21-17 Aff. of Respondent R. p. __)

¹⁷ (Ex. A and B to 11-21-17 Aff of Respondent, R. P. _)

¹⁸ Sec. 103-33, 114-550, 114-503; 114-521 S.C. Code of Regs.

¹⁹ (11-21-19 Aff. of Respondent R. P. __); not to mention adoption-- the fundamental right to build a family.

²⁰ 22 U.S.C § 212(b).

²¹ See also David Post, "The Yellow Star, The Scarlet Letter, and the International Megan's Law," Wash. Post, January 6, 2016.

South Carolina sex offender, Respondent cannot be removed from the Registry, so the law works an unconstitutional lifelong deprivation of travel liberty, as compared to similarly situated U.S. citizens of other states. All these are affirmative restraints.

(2) From the stocks, to flogging, to chain gangs, public shaming is historically punitive. Two decades after passage of the SORA, even South Carolina courts and juries recognize as much; in 2013, a Clarendon County jury awarded \$890,000 to a non-sex offender whose condominium board circulated a flier identifying him as a sex offender. “There are certain names you just can’t call people.”²²

Respondent is publicly shamed for life by being on the Sex Offender Registry. His face and identifying information appear on the South Carolina Sex Offender website, other official, government websites authorized by SLED, and the National Sex Offender Public Website. This internet publication scheme is different than the NCIC-based restricted access publication process applicable to any other group of offenders, including violent and repeat offenders, even child abusers and killers.²³ It is also much less reliable. Having promulgated this information on the internet, Appellants are apparently unwilling to exercise their statutory authority to prevent false information from being published by subordinate government actors. Additionally, Appellants are powerless to control its continued dissemination via a host of privately-operated sites, including, but not limited to sites that profit from Respondent’s information, including the false information about an alleged twelve-year-old victim. (See 11-21-17 Aff of Respondent R. __p.)

²² “South Carolina Man Wins Damages,” *The Post & Courier*, Dec. 13, 2013.

²³ The General Public has access to bare-bones criminal records (no photo, residential details) only through a formal request to SLED (and usually payment) where the requestor provides the subject’s social security number. See Sec. 72-23 S.C. Code Regs. *See also* S.C. Code Ann. § 20-7-650 et seq., The South Carolina Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect, restricted by SCDSS, subject to administrative review, and not available to the general public on the internet.

A university graduate with many local ties, Respondent has lost at least two jobs and has been denied employment as a result of his registry status, it has negatively impacted his personal relationships, and he and his family have been shamed in their community. The U.S. Supreme Court case *Smith v. Doe, supra*, which held “adult sex offender registries do not resemble traditional forms of punishment, such as public shaming,” *id.* at 98, was decided in 2003. Justice Kennedy wrote the Court’s opinion in *Smith v. Doe*. However, fourteen years later, a U.S. District Court inventoried changes to the internet and society and noted the following:

“SORA’s effects . . . are plainly punitive. Justice Kennedy...did not foresee the development of private, commercial websites exploiting the information...and the opportunities for ‘investigative journalism.’ . . . The justices did not foresee the ubiquitous influence of social media. The . . . General Assembly’s disavowal of any punitive intent is an avoidance of any responsibility for the results of warning the public of the dangers to be expected from registered sex offenders. . . . [T]he effect of publication of the information is to expose the registrants to punishments not by the state but by their fellow citizens. The fear that pervades the public reaction to sex offenses generates reactions that are cruel and in disregard of any objective assessment of the individual’s actual proclivity to commit new sex offenses.”

Millard v. Rankin, 265 F.Supp.3d 1211, 1226 (D. Colo. 2017).

(3) The SORA applies to Respondent regardless of his actual intent. In this case, there was no victim; Plaintiff changed his mind, drove past the meeting place set by the undercover officer and did not stop.

(4) In its operation in this case, the SORA bears no relationship to public safety and only acts as a punishment of him. Respondent is humiliated and stigmatized as a child predator for his crime, which acts as punitive retribution. As the Colorado District Court put it in 2017: “This ongoing imposition of a known and uncontrollable risk of public abuse of information from the sex offender registry, in the absence of any objective risk to the public by posed by each individual

sex offender, has resulted in and continues to threaten plaintiffs with punishment disproportionate to the offenses committed.” *Millard*, 265 F.Supp.3d at 1232.

(5) The behavior to which the SORA applies is a crime;

(6) There is no alternative purpose in Respondent’s case that justifies his registration; it is only punitive to him. As noted recently by the U.S. District Court in Michigan in a sex offender registry review that concluded “SORA imposes punishment,” “[It] brands registrants as moral lepers solely on the basis of a prior conviction. It consigns them to years, if not a lifetime, of existence on the margins.” *Doe v. Snyder*, 834 F.3d 696, 705 (6th Cir. 2016). Michigan—similarly to South Carolina and the federal government—“began taking a more aggressive tack,” adding online public access, photographs, living restrictions, public notification and posting rules, and internet access rules supported by “at best, scant evidence that such restrictions serve the professed purpose of keeping communities safe.” *Id.* at 698, 705. Similar to South Carolina, “what began . . . as a non-public registry maintained solely for law enforcement use has grown into a byzantine code governing in minute detail the lives of the state's sex offenders.” *Id.* at 697. The court found the 2016 Michigan SORA “something altogether different from and more troubling than . . . first-generation registry law.” *Id.* at 705.

(7) The Sex Offender Registry’s effects on Plaintiff are excessive in relation to the stated purpose for which it was created. As Appellants point out, Respondent subjected himself to a battery of tests by experts in the field (Initial Brief of App p. 42) The Court cited the expert opinion that he is of low risk to re-offend and has not re-offended in any manner. He has furthered his education and maintained employment. The effect of his being registered is on him personally, but it reaches his family and impacts his relationships. In most any other context, the state’s

publication of Respondent's personal information is expressly illegal. See Family Privacy Protection Act of 2002, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-2-20.

In 2019, the onerous lifetime burdens of the Sex Offender Registry upon Respondent are cruel and excessive in his case, and wildly disproportionate to his offense, a victimless crime for which he received a one-year suspended sentence. Additionally, Appellants' *ultra vires* publication of Plaintiffs information renders the actions cruel, excessive and punitive in nature.

Based on the evidence of the cruel and excessive punitive effects of the Sex Offender Registry on Respondent, the trial court properly determined that he was entitled to summary judgment on this claim.

VI. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT IF THE COURT WERE TO JUDICALLY EXPAND THE LANGUAGE OF SORA TO ALLOW FOR WHOLESALE PUBLICATION OF THE REGISTRY VIA THE INTERNET SUCH AN EXPANSION WOULD ACT LIKE AN *EX POST FACTO LAW* AND VIOLATE RESPONDENT'S RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS.

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